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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

CASE NO. 05-23037-CIV-JORDAN/TORRES 
 

 
FLORIDA PEDIATRIC SOCIETY/THE FLORIDA 
CHAPTER OF THE  AMERICAN ACADEMY OF 
PEDIATRICS; FLORIDA ACADEMY OF  
PEDIATRIC DENTISTRY, INC.; ASHLEY DOVE, 
as the next friend of Kaleb Kelley, a minor child;  
BLANCHE SPELL, as the next friend of Khalillah Spell, 
a minor child; and EVA CARMONA,  as the next friend of 
Vanessa and Jennifer Patino, minor children; RITA GORENFLO 
and LES GORENFLO, as the next friend of Thomas and  
Nathaniel Gorenflo, minor children; HEIDI CHRISTAKIS,  
as the next friend of Charles and Christo Christakis, minor 
children; JESSE WATLEY, a minor child, by and through 
his next friend, EDNA WATLEY; YISET ESPINO, as next 
of Angel Banos, a minor child; N.A., a minor child, by and through 
his next friend, C.R., OLGA SERAFIN and MARIO 
RODRIGUEZ, as the next friend of Adrian Rodriguez, 
a minor child.  
 
   Plaintiffs, 
vs. 
 
ANDREW AGWUNOBI, M.D., in his official capacity as Secretary 
of the Florida Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA); 
ROBERT BUTTERWORTH in his official capacity as Secretary 
of the Florida  Department of  Children and Family Services; and 
ANA M. VIAMONTE ROS, M.D., M.P.H. in her official  
capacity as Secretary of the Florida Department of Health, 
 
   Defendants. 
______________________________________________________/ 
 

AMENDED COMPLAINT – CLASS ACTION 
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I. Introduction 
 

1. This civil rights action is brought to remedy the systematic and continuing 

violation of federal law by Florida state health officials.  Specifically, this action seeks to redress 

the failure of Florida state health officials to provide children in Florida who are enrolled in 

federally-funded medical assistance (commonly known as Medicaid) with essential medical and 

dental services as required by Title XIX of the Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396 et seq. 

(“Title XIX”). 

2. Title XIX mandates that all of these children be furnished Early and Periodic 

Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment Services (“EPSDT”) – the primary, preventive, acute and 

specialty care and services which are necessary to their good health and development. 

3. This action is brought on behalf of the more than 1.6 million children who are 

enrolled in the Florida Title XIX and EPSDT services program (collectively referred to as 

“Medical Assistance”), by the Florida Pediatric Society/The Florida Chapter of the American 

Academy of Pediatrics (‘FPS”), the Florida Academy of Pediatric Dentistry, Inc. (“FAPD”), and 

the named plaintiffs and their families.   

4. Plaintiffs seek declaratory and injunctive relief to end the violation of federal law 

taking place in Florida which denies our state’s children the delivery of prompt, complete and 

continuing health care. 

5.  The defendants are the Secretary of the Florida Agency for Health Care 

Administration (“AHCA”), the state governmental agency designated by the Governor to be 

Florida’s single agency responsible for implementing Title XIX, the Secretary of the Florida 

Department of Children and Family Services, and the Secretary of the Florida Department of 

Health.   
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6. The failure of the defendants to comply with federal law has resulted in, and, if 

left unremedied, will continue to result in, the needless infliction of pain, the endangerment of 

young lives, the preemption of learning, development, and growth, and the stunting of the 

children’s life chances.   

7. Because of the defendants’ violation of federal law, hundreds of thousands of 

eligible Florida children have not been furnished any preventive health care services.   According 

to the State of Florida’s own statistics, in FFY 2004, for example, more than 500,000 Medicaid 

enrolled Florida children were furnished no preventative health care services at all.  Among 

these children:  

• more than 30,000 infants (children under the age of 1) received no 
preventative medical services during the first year of their life, 

 
• more than 152,000 toddlers (children between the ages of 1 and 5) 

received no preventative medical services; and 
 

• more than 337,000 school age children (children between the ages of 6 
and 18) received no preventative medical services. 

 
8. These statistics are not isolated examples but are demonstrative of the systematic 

failure of the defendants to comply with the mandates of federal Medicaid law.  Indeed, statistics 

provided to the federal government by Florida’s Medicaid Agency show that for the years 1999 

to 2004 at least 44% of the children enrolled in Florida’s Medicaid program failed to receive 

even one of the health check ups that they were entitled to under federal law.  During that same 

time period more than 75% of Florida’s enrolled children were furnished no dental care 

whatsoever, despite their entitlement to such care.    

9. To remedy Florida’s systemic failure to comply with federal law, this action 

requests that the Court, inter alia: 
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a. Require the defendants to conform to the mandates of Title XIX, its 

implementing regulations and guidelines, and provide the children of 

Florida with timely, complete and continuing health care and services; 

b. Require the defendants to ensure that payments to providers, including 

pediatricians, dentists, pediatric subspecialists, and other specialty care 

physicians, are sufficient to provide children receiving Medical Assistance 

access to care and services to the same extent that such care and services 

are available to other children in the same geographic area; 

c. Require defendants to bring children’s health care and services to the 

children, including:  (i) informing children and their families of Florida’s 

obligation to promptly furnish complete and continuing children’s health 

care; (ii) utilizing cooperative arrangements with other child-intensive 

agencies in order to effectively achieve enrollment and easy re-enrollment 

of all eligible children; and (iii) providing scheduling assistance, 

transportation, outstations and case-management.   

d. Require defendants to assure that health maintenance organizations that 

participate in Florida’s Medical Assistance program have the capacity, and 

fully and effectively use it, to deliver to all enrolled Florida children with 

them the timely, continuing and complete health care to which they are 

entitled. 

II. Jurisdiction and Venue 

10. Plaintiffs bring this action to redress the deprivation of rights secured under the 

laws of the United States. 

Case 1:05-cv-23037-AJ   Document 77   Entered on FLSD Docket 06/05/2007   Page 4 of 41



 

20401 v1 4

11. The jurisdiction of the Court is invoked under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343(a)(3) and 

1343(a)(4), this being a civil action arising under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for declaratory and injunctive 

relief for the deprivation of rights secured by Title XIX of the Social Security Act of the United 

States.  42 U.S.C. §§ 1396 et seq. 

12. Plaintiffs request declaratory and injunctive relief, as authorized by 28 U.S.C. §§ 

2201 and 2202; 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and Fed.R.Civ.P. 57 and 65. 

13. Venue in this district is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), in that a substantial 

part of the events and omissions giving rise to this claim have occurred and are occurring in this 

district. 

III. The Parties  

Individual Plaintiffs 

14. Kaleb Kelley is the minor son of Ashley Dove, who appears in this matter as his 

next friend.  Kaleb was born on December 25, 2003.  Ashley Dove and her son reside in Lee 

County, Florida. 

a. Kaleb is eligible to receive medical and dental care through Medicaid.  

b. Kaleb has suffered from chronic and recurrent ear infections and has 

required periodic medical treatment, including treatment from Ear Nose 

and Throat (“ENT”) specialists as a result.  

c. Despite diligent efforts, his mother has been unable to obtain necessary 

medical treatment for Kaleb. 

15. Khalillah Spell is the sixteen year old minor daughter of Blanche Spell, who 

appears in this matter as Khalillah’s next friend.  Khalillah and her mother live in Miami-Dade 

County, Florida.    
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a. Khalillah is eligible to receive medical and dental care through Medicaid.   

b. Effective July 1, 2004, Atlantic Dental, Inc. (“ADI”) was awarded a 

contract by the State of Florida Agency for Health Care Administration to 

provide dental benefits to more than 200,000 children who are Medicaid-

eligible in Miami-Dade County, including Khalillah Spell. 

c. After ADI had been awarded the contract, despite diligent efforts Ms. 

Spell has not obtained needed treatment for Khalillah and her other 

children through the ADI program. 

16. Vanessa and Jennifer Patino are the minor daughters of Eva Carmona, who 

appears in this matter as their next friend. Eva Carmona and her daughters reside in Miami-Dade 

County, Florida. 

a. Vanessa and Jennifer are eligible to receive medical and dental care 

through Medicaid.   

b. Effective July 1, 2004, ADI was awarded a contract by the State of Florida 

Agency for Health Care Administration to provide dental benefits to more 

than 200,000 children who are Medicaid-eligible in Miami-Dade County, 

including Vanessa and Jennifer.   

c. Once the ADI regime took effect in July 2004, Eva Carmona sought to 

find a dentist that would accept her daughters as part of the ADI program.  

Despite diligent efforts, Eva Carmona, to this day, has been unable to find 

an ADI dentist to see her daughters, and Ms. Carmona has not obtained 

necessary dental treatment for her daughters. 
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17. Thomas and Nathaniel Gorenflo are the adopted, minor sons of Rita and Les 

Gorenflo, who appear in this matter as their next best friend.  Thomas was born on December 29, 

1998, Nathaniel on February 10, 1998.  The Gorenflos live in Palm Beach Gardens. 

a. Both children are eligible for Medicaid as a result of their adoption.  

b. In addition to other medical and developmental issues, Thomas has 

multiple related orthopedic problems.  Despite diligent efforts, the 

Gorenflos have not obtained necessary medical treatment for Thomas. 

c. In addition to other medical and developmental issues, Nathaniel suffers 

from chronic sinusitis and needs ENT treatment.  Despite diligent efforts, 

the Gorenflos have not obtained necessary medical treatment for 

Nathaniel. 

18. Charles and Christo Christakis are the minor sons of Heidi Christakis, who 

appears in this matter as their next friend.  Heidi Christakis and her sons reside in Broward 

County, Florida, but during part of the time in question resided in Palm Beach County. 

a. Charles Christakis, who was born on November 18, 1992, and Christo 

Christakis, who was born on February 13, 1995, are eligible to receive 

medical and dental care through Medicaid. 

b. On or about January 31, 2005, Charles broke his wrist playing baseball.   

c. Despite diligent efforts, Ms. Christakis has had difficulty and at times was 

unable able to obtain the necessary medical treatment for Charles. 

d. Charles required braces and still needs a retainer; Christo requires braces.  
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e. Despite diligent efforts, Ms. Christakis has had difficulty and at times has 

been unable to obtain the necessary dental treatment for Charles and 

Christo. 

19. Jesse Watley is the minor grandson of Edna Watley, who appears in this action as 

his next friend with the express approval of his father and guardian Joseph Watley.  Edna Watley 

and her grandson live in Escambia County, Florida. 

a. Jesse, who was born on July 26, 1994, has been eligible to receive medical 

and dental care through Medicaid at all relevant times. 

b. Jesse had a tumor removed from his leg in late December 2004.  

c. Despite diligent efforts, Ms. Watley has had difficulty and at times has 

been unable to obtain the necessary follow-up medical treatment for Jesse. 

20. Angel Banos is the minor son of Yiset Espino, who appears in this action as his 

next best friend.  Ms. Espino and her son reside in Miami-Dade County. 

a. Angel Banos, who was born on February 6, 1999, was at all relevant times 

eligible for medical and dental care through Medicaid.  Angel is now 

eligible for medical and dental care through Healthy Kids. 

b. Effective July 1, 2004, Atlantic Dental, Inc. (“ADI”) was awarded a 

contract by the State of Florida Agency for Health Care Administration to 

provide dental benefits to more than 200,000 children who are Medicaid-

eligible in Miami-Dade County, including Angel. 

c. After ADI had been awarded the contract, Ms. Espino has had difficulty 

and at times has been unable to obtain the necessary dental treatment for 

Angel. 
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21.  N.A., is the minor foster son of C.R., who appears in this action as his next 

friend.1  C.R. and her foster son live in Leon County, Florida. 

a. N.A. was at all relevant times eligible for medical and dental care through 

Medicaid. 

b. When N.A. was approximately two months of age, he was randomly re-

assigned from MediPass to an HMO in another county without the 

knowledge or consent of C.R., who was then his foster mother. 

c. C.R. has had difficulty and at times has been unable to obtain the 

necessary medical care for N.A. 

22. Adrian Rodriguez is the minor son of Olga Serafin and Mario Rodriguez, who 

appear in this action as his next best friend.  Ms. Sarafin, Mr. Rodriguez, and their son live in 

Miami-Dade County, Florida. 

a. Adrian Rodriguez, who was born on August 5, 1994, was at all relevant 

times eligible for medical and dental care through Medicaid.  He is now 

eligible for medical and dental care through Healthy Kids. 

b. Effective July 1, 2004, Atlantic Dental, Inc. (“ADI”) was awarded a 

contract by the State of Florida Agency for Health Care Administration to 

provide dental benefits to more than 200,000 children who are Medicaid-

eligible in Miami-Dade County, including Adrian. 

 
1 Because N.A. is a foster child, his identity and the identity of C.R are omitted from this public filing to protect 
their confidentiality.  Plaintiffs will disclose N.A.’s and C.R.’s identities to defendants.  In addition, plaintiffs will 
file a separate motion with the Court for permission to prosecute the action under pseudonyms on behalf of N.A. and 
C.R. 

Case 1:05-cv-23037-AJ   Document 77   Entered on FLSD Docket 06/05/2007   Page 9 of 41



 

20401 v1 9

c. After ADI had been awarded the contract, Ms. Sarafin and Mr. Rodriguez 

have had difficulty and, at times, has been unable to obtain the necessary 

dental treatment for Adrian. 

Organizational Plaintiffs    

23. The Florida Pediatric Society/Florida Chapter of the American Academy of 

Pediatrics, (“FPS”) is a non-profit professional organization of pediatricians and pediatric 

specialists.  FPS’s purpose is to secure to all infants, children and adolescents in Florida full 

access to timely, continuous and complete health care and services, and further the goals of the 

American Academy of Pediatrics.   

24. FPS exists to advocate for infants, children and young adults and provide for their 

care; to collaborate to assure child health, and to assure that decision making affecting the health 

of children and their families is based upon the needs of those children and families.  

25. Since at least 1989, FPS has expended substantial organizational resources 

seeking to ensure that the defendants comply with federal law by providing timely, complete and 

continuous healthcare for all Medicaid-eligible children in Florida.  If Defendants had not failed 

to comply with federal law, and instead actually furnished Medical Assistance to all enrolled 

children, as required by Title XIX, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396a(a)(8), 1396a(a)(10), 

1396a(a)(30)(A),1396a(a)(43), the Florida Pediatric Society could and would devote these 

considerable resources to other purposes such as the advancement of child safety, public health 

measures against substance abuse, as well as pediatric and public education campaigns to help 

eradicate the environmental causes of asthma, the social causes of child violence and obesity, 

and other conditions which prejudice the growth and learning and life-chances of children. 
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26. In providing treatment to children receiving Medical Assistance, members of FPS 

are faced with rates that fail to cover costs and also with administrative burdens and impediments 

which are barriers to children receiving needed health care.  For example, because of defendants’ 

actions and omissions, members of FPS are faced with Medicaid payment rates that are 

substantially below Medicare and commercial rates and which in many cases fail to even cover 

the member’s costs.  Thus, the members of FPS have suffered economic injury (and their ability 

to provide quality care has been undermined) as a result of defendants’ violation of federal law. 

27. FPS sues (a) for itself as an organization that has suffered injury as a result of the 

defendants’ acts and omissions, (b) on behalf its members (who have suffered injury as a result 

of the defendants’ acts and omissions), and (c) on behalf of its members’ patients – the Medicaid 

enrolled children of Florida harmed by defendants’ actions and omissions. 

28. Likewise Plaintiff Florida Academy of Pediatric Dentistry, Inc. (“FAPD”) is a 

non-profit organization.  Some members of FAPD provide dental care to children eligible for 

Medical Assistance.  The mission of FAPD is to improve and maintain the oral health of infants, 

children and adolescents, and persons with special needs.  FAPD is dedicated to promoting 

policies that increase access to oral health-care for low income children.  Thus, FAPD seeks to 

assure that children who are Medical Assistance beneficiaries receive periodic and 

comprehensive dental examinations and treatment. 

29. The acts and omissions of the defendants have imposed otherwise unnecessary 

expenditures of organizational resources on the FAPD.  For example, the FAPD has spent 

significant organizational resources seeking to ensure the defendants comply with federal law.  If 

the defendants had in fact complied with federal law, those resources could have been expended 

on other programs seeking to promote children’s oral health. 
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30. In addition, the unlawful acts of the defendants have resulted in payments to 

FAPD members which, in many cases, fail to even cover the member’s costs.  Thus, the 

members of the FAPD have suffered economic injury and their ability to provide quality care has 

been undermined. 

31. The FAPD sues (a) for itself as an organization that has suffered injury as a result 

of the defendants’ acts and omissions, (b) on behalf its members (who have suffered injury as a 

result of the defendants’ acts and omissions), and (c) on behalf of its members’ patients – the 

Medicaid enrolled children of Florida harmed by defendants’ actions and omissions. 

Defendants 

32. Defendant Andrew Agwunobi, M.D., is Secretary of the Florida Agency for 

Health Care Administration (“AHCA”).  AHCA is the single state agency designated by the 

Governor and under Florida Statute § 408.034, and as required by Title XIX, 42 U.S.C. § 

1396a(a)(5), to administer the Medical Assistance program in Florida.  As Secretary of AHCA, 

Dr. Agwunobi is the Agency’s Chief Executive Officer responsible for implementing the 

Medical Assistance Program, for formulating, directing and monitoring its policies, rules and its 

actual performance and for insuring its compliance with state and federal law.  Dr. Agwunobi is 

sued in his official capacity.  

33. Defendant Robert Butterworth is Secretary of the Florida Department of Children 

and Families (“DCF”).  DCF is the state department responsible for administering Medicaid 

eligibility determinations and, with responsible AHCA officials, is responsible for assuring 

effective use of presumptive eligibility, continuous eligibility, joint applications and effective 

cross-enrollment among child serving programs.  As Secretary of DCF, Mr. Butterworth is 

responsible for assuring that Medicaid eligibility determinations are administered in compliance 
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with state and federal law, including that they do not impede or defeat, but advance the prompt, 

complete and continuous delivery of Medical Assistance required by Title XIX to be furnished to 

all eligible children.  Mr. Butterworth is sued in his official capacity. 

34. Defendant Ana M. Viamonte Ros, M.D., M.P.H., is the Secretary of the Florida 

Department of Health.  The Florida Department of Health’s stated mission is to protect and 

promote the health and safety of all people in Florida through the delivery of quality public 

health services and the promotion of health care standards.  The Department of Health is 

organized in divisions and one of its divisions, the Division of Children’s Medical Services, 

administers Florida’s Medicaid program for children with special health care needs.  As 

Secretary of the Department of Health, Dr. Viamonte Ros is responsible for administering the 

department’s programs for providing children’s health care and services, including the Division 

of Children’s Medical Services, in compliance with state and federal law.  Dr. Viamonte Ros is 

sued in her official capacity. 

IV. Class Action Allegations 

35. The named individual plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of themselves and all 

other similarly situated pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 23 (a) and 23 (b)(2).   The plaintiffs’ class 

consists of children under the age of 21 who now, or in the future will, reside in Florida and who 

are, or will be, eligible under Title XIX of the Social Security Act for EPSDT.   

36. The requirements of Fed.R.Civ.P. 23(a) are met in that the class is so numerous 

that joining all members is impractical.  Defendants’ unduplicated count of children determined 

during FFY 2004 the number of children eligible and enrolled in Medical Assistance was over 

1.6 million children.   
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37. The named individual plaintiffs raise claims based on questions of law and fact 

that are common to the class.  Plaintiffs and the class members rely on the defendants to ensure 

that they have access to and are provided health care services guaranteed to them by federal law.  

Plaintiffs and the class members are being deprived of these services because of the systematic 

violation of federal law by the defendants.  Questions of fact common to the class include 

whether the defendants fail:  

a. to ensure that payments to providers are sufficient so that enrolled children 

have access to and are provided health care as required by Title XIX; 

b. to ensure that health care and services are delivered to children entitled to 

Medical Assistance benefits; 

c. to develop and implement a coordinated system of care that provides the 

class members with medical, vision, hearing, dental and developmental 

screening, diagnosis and treatment at appropriate intervals that meet 

reasonable standards of medical care; and 

d. to ensure that families of children enrolled in Medical Assistance are 

adequately informed of their children’s right to receive EPSDT services 

and how to obtain such services. 

38 Questions of law common to the entire class include whether defendants’ acts and 

omissions deprive plaintiffs of EPSDT services in violation of the Medicaid Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 

1396a, 1396d(a), 1396d(r), and 1396u-2, and the regulations and guidelines promulgated 

thereunder. 

39. Certification under Rule 23(b)(2) is appropriate because the defendants have acted 

or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class as a whole, thereby making 
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appropriate final injunctive relief on a class basis.  Specifically, plaintiffs request that this Court 

declare defendants by their actions and omissions to be in violation of Title XIX, 42 U.S.C. §§ 

1396a, 1396d(a), 1396d(r), and 1396u-2 and to issue injunctive relief as follows: 

a. Requiring defendants to furnish all Medicaid-eligible children the timely, 

complete, and continuing health care and services required by Title XIX; 

b. Requiring defendants to ensure that payments to providers are sufficient to 

ensure that Medicaid eligible children have access to care and services at 

least to the same extent that such care and services are available to other 

children in the same geographic area, and to assure that such payments are 

consistent with quality of care; 

c. Requiring defendants to design, implement, ensure and enforce eligibility-

determination assignment and managed care arrangements which can and 

do deliver in timely and continuing fashion, the full array of children’s 

health care services required to be delivered by Title XIX; and 

d. Requiring defendants to bring children’s health care to the children, 

including: aggressively informing children and their families of Florida’s 

obligation to furnish timely, complete and continuing children’s health 

care; fully utilizing cooperative arrangements with other child-intensive 

agencies in order effectively to achieve enrollment and re-enrollment of all 

eligible children and in order to accomplish the actual delivery of 

necessary health care and services to all enrolled children; and providing 

scheduling assistance, outstations and case-management. 
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40. The named plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class.  

The named plaintiff organizations have the resources to prosecute this action on behalf of the 

proposed class.  They are represented by attorneys employed by Boies, Schiller & Flexner LLP, 

the Public Interest Law Center of Philadelphia, and Miller, Keffer & Bullock PC.  Counsel have 

experience in complex class action litigation involving health care and civil rights laws.  Counsel 

have the resources, expertise, and experience to prosecute this action.   

41. Defendants’ acts and omissions have affected and will affect the class generally, 

thereby making finial injunctive relief and declaratory relief with respect to the class as a whole 

appropriate.   

V. The Law and Structure of Children’s Health Care  
Under Title XIX of the Social Security Act 

 
42. Medical Assistance (often known as “Medicaid”) is a joint and cooperative 

federal-state program for furnishing and financing health care and services.  Title XIX was first 

enacted in 1965.  Its children’s health care provisions were first made express in 1967.  Its 1989 

and 1990 Amendments significantly expanded family incomes at which children are eligible and 

the health care and services, primary and specialty care alike, that must be furnished to all 

eligible children. 

43. Title XIX, the Medical Assistance title of the Social Security Act, was enacted 

“[f]or the purpose of enabling each state . . . to furnish (1) medical assistance on behalf of 

families with dependent children and . . . disabled individuals, whose income and resources are 

insufficient to meet the costs of necessary medical services, and (2) rehabilitation and other 

services to help such families and individuals attain or retain capability for independence or self-

care.”  42 U.S.C. § 1396. 
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44. To enable the states to fulfill this purpose, and in exchange for acceptance of the 

obligations imposed by Title XIX, Title XIX provides: 

there is hereby authorized to be appropriated for each fiscal year a 
sum sufficient to carry out the purposes of this subchapter.  The 
sums made available under this section shall be used for making 
payments to States which have submitted, and had approved by the 
Secretary, State plans for medical assistance. 
 

42 U.S.C. § 1396. 
 

45. Although state participation in Medical Assistance is entirely voluntary, once a 

state chooses to participate, it must carry out the requirements of Title XIX and its regulations.  

Florida has elected to participate in Medical Assistance.  

46. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid in the United States Department of 

Health and Human Services (“CMS”) oversees the program for the Secretary.  Defendant Florida 

officials are responsible under Title XIX and state law for implementation of Florida’s Medicaid 

program in accordance with the requirements imposed by Title XIX, its implementing 

regulations and policy directions.  

47. Under Title XIX, provision of children’s health care is mandatory upon each 

participating state.  Title XIX expressly provides: 

The term “medical assistance” means payment of part or all of the 
cost of the following care and services . . . early and periodic 
screening, diagnostic and treatment services (as defined in 
subsection (r) of this section) for individuals who are eligible . . . 
and under the age of 21.   

 
42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a)(4)(B).   
 

48. Title XIX further provides that each participating state must make available “at 

least the care and services listed in paragraph [4(B)] of section 1396d(a) to all individuals who 

are [eligible].”  42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(A).   
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49. States that elect to participate in the Medical Assistance program are reimbursed 

by the CMS without any financial cap for 50% or more of their medical expenditures in 

exchange for compliance with the requirements of Title XIX.   

50. Since 1989, at 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(r), Title XIX has set forth expressly what items 

and services the mandatory “early and periodic screening, diagnostic and treatment services” 

must include; namely:  

a. Comprehensive screening examinations “provided at intervals which 

meet reasonable standards of medical and dental practice, as determined 

by the State after consultation with recognized medical and dental 

organizations involved in child health care and, with respect to 

immunizations . . ., in accordance with the schedule referred to in Section 

1396S(c)(2)(B)(u) of this title for pediatric vaccines” and “at such other 

intervals, indicated as medically necessary, to determine the existence of 

physical or mental illnesses or conditions and which shall at a minimum 

include (i) a comprehensive health and developmental history (including 

assessment of both physical and mental health development), (ii) a 

comprehensive unclothed physical exam, (iii) appropriate immunizations . 

. . according to age and health history, (iv) laboratory tests (including lead 

blood level assessment according to age and health history), and (v) health 

education (including anticipatory guidance).” 

b. Vision services “provided at intervals which meet reasonable standards of 

medical practice as determined by the State after consultation with 

recognized medical organizations involved in child health care and 
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otherwise as medically necessary to determine the existence of a suspected 

illness or condition; and which shall at a minimum include diagnosis and 

treatment for defects in vision, including eyeglasses.” 

c. Dental services “provided at intervals which meet reasonable standards of 

dental practice as determined after consultation with recognized dental 

organizations involved in children’s health care; and which shall at a 

minimum include relief of pain and infections, restoration of teeth, and 

maintenance of dental health.” 

d. Hearing services at similar intervals determined in similar ways and 

“which shall at a minimum include diagnosis and treatment for defects in 

hearing, including hearing aids.”  

e. All such other health care, diagnostic services, treatment, and other 

measures described in § 1396a(a) necessary to correct or ameliorate 

defects and physical and mental illnesses and conditions, “whether or 

not such services are covered  [otherwise] under the State plan.” 

51. Title XIX has long required that a participating state’s “payments for care and 

services” be “consistent with . . . quality.”  42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A).  In 1989, as part of its 

expansion of income eligibility criteria for children’s health care and of the preventive care and 

services required to be delivered to children Congress codified a long-standing regulation into 

Title XIX, requiring also that each participating state: 

provide such methods and procedures relating to the utilization of, 
and payment for, care and services available under the plan . . . as 
may be necessary . . . to assure that payments . . . are sufficient to 
enlist enough providers so that care and services are available 
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under the plan at least to the extent that such care and services are 
available to the general population in the geographic area. 

 
42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A). 
 

52. The criteria for sufficiency of payments necessary to assure equal access has been 

interpreted by courts to mean that reimbursement rates are at least 90% of payments in 

commercial and other public (i.e. Medicare) coverage, that they enlist at least two-thirds of each 

specialty’s practitioners in full participation in Medicaid, and that they actually achieve delivery 

of the required care and services.  Currently, Florida’s Medicaid reimbursement rates are far 

below this standard. 

53. In short, the obligation imposed upon responsible state officials by Title XIX of 

the Social Security Act is, as stated in one of the earliest of the long and consistent line of federal 

court cases enforcing Title XIX, to wit: 

The mandatory obligation upon each participating state to 
aggressively notify, seek out and screen persons under 21 in order 
to detect health problems and to pursue those problems with the 
needed treatment is made unambiguously clear by the 1967 act and 
by the interpretive regulations and guidelines. 
 
[A] somewhat casual approach to EPSDT hardly conforms to the 
aggressive search for early detection of child health problems 
envisaged by Congress.  It is difficult enough to activate the 
average affluent adult to seek medical assistance until he is 
virtually laid low.  It is utterly beyond belief to expect that children 
of needy parents will volunteer themselves or that their parents will 
voluntarily deliver them to the providers of health services for 
early medical screening and diagnosis.  By the time [a] . . . child is 
brought for treatment it may too often be on a stretcher.  This is 
hardly the goal of “early and periodic screening and diagnosis.”  
EPSDT programs must be brought to the recipients; the 
recipients will not ordinarily go to the programs until it is too late 
to accomplish the congressional purpose. 
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Stanton v. Bond, 504 F.2d 1246, 1250-51 (7th Cir. 1974), cert. denied, 420 U.S. 984 (1975) 

(emphasis added). 

54. In 1989, Congress linked children’s health care eligibility directly and simply to a 

child’s age and his or her family’s income.  In doing so, Congress intended to, and did, expand 

the numbers of poor, near-poor and middle income children who are entitled to health care, 

particularly including those in working families whose jobs pay only low wages, right up into, 

for large families, median family income.  

55. The 1989 Amendments required states to provide health care to children from 

birth through age five in families with income equal to or less than 133% of the poverty level, 

and to children born after September 30, 1983 (who are age 6 through age 18), 100% of the 

poverty level, and to age 21, the cash assistance standards.  The 1989 Amendments authorized 

eligibility standards to 185% of the poverty level for infancy (birth to age one), and at all ages 

allowed the States, by waiver, to choose still higher eligibility standards, while maintaining the 

same proportion of federal financial participation.  

VI. Defendants’ Violations of Federal Law 

56. Florida has chosen to participate in Medical Assistance.  Like all states which 

have chosen to participate, Florida is reimbursed by the Federal Centers for Medicaid and 

Medicare Services—without any financial cap—for the largest portion of its expenditures for 

health care and services on the condition that state officials carry out the requirements of Title 

XIX. 
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57. In Florida, the federal government currently pays 58.9% of all expenditures for 

health care and services furnished under Title XIX, including the costs of state administration; 

Florida pays the remaining 41.1%. 

58. Nearly one-third of all of Florida’s children are eligible for Title XIX Medicaid.  

In FFY 2004, some 1.6 million Florida children, aged birth to 21, were eligible and enrolled and 

an estimated additional 200,000 children were eligible but still not enrolled by defendants.  In 

2000, some 43% of births, in Florida were Medicaid covered. 

59. Although in FFY 2003-04 children were more than half (53.3%) of the persons 

enrolled in Medical Assistance, this health care and services constituted less than 18% of 

Florida’s Medical Assistance expenditures.  Preventive health care for children is the most 

economical expenditure providing the greatest public health benefit for each dollar spent.  

60. Florida administers a set of four programs to provide health care and services to 

children.  Together the four are called “KidCare”.  The four programs are: 

a. Medicaid, funded and operating under Title XIX of the Social Security 

Act; 

b. Children’s Medical Services (“CMS”) addressed to children with complex 

healthcare needs, almost entirely funded under Title XIX and operating 

thereunder; 

c. Healthy Kids, funded and operating under Title XXI (the State Children’s 

Health Insurance Program, “SCHIP”) of the Social Security Act, 42 

U.S.C. § 1397aa et seq a federal-state block grant, non-entitlement 

program for children whose family incomes range above Medicaid 
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eligibility income limits to 200% of the federal poverty level; 

d. Medikids, also funded and operating under Title XXI, for children ages 1 

through 5 whose family income is between 133% and 200% of the federal 

poverty level. 

61. This action concerns Medicaid and Children’s Medical Services but not Healthy 

Kids or Medikids, except insofar as federal law creates obligations upon the latter two programs, 

for example, to assure the enrollment in Medicaid of any children identified in the operation of 

the two programs including their application processes as being eligible for Medicaid, because of 

a decline in family income or because a child is in foster care, adoption assistance, or on social 

security disability assistance. 

62. Florida has chosen to set children’s family eligibility for Medical Assistance at 

200% of the federal poverty level for infants from birth to age 1, 133% of the federal poverty 

level for children ages 2 through 5, 100% of the federal poverty level for ages 6 through 18, and 

for ages 19, 20 and 21 at 23% of the federal poverty level.  

63. In addition, children receiving Supplemental Security Income, 42 U.S.C. § 1382 

(based upon disability); Adoption Assistance, 42 U.S.C. § 670; and Foster Care, 42 U.S.C. § 670, 

are, categorically, eligible for Title XIX children’s health care. 

64. During the federal fiscal year ending September 30, 2004, an unduplicated count 

of more than 1.6 million Florida children were determined to be eligible for Title XIX children’s 

health care and were enrolled therein by defendants or their agents.  This was approximately 

37% of Florida’s children. 
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65. In Florida, pursuant to § 1396d(r) and requirements of the EPSDT, and in partial 

accordance with the American Academy of Pediatrics’ “Recommendations for Preventive 

Pediatric Health Care,” six comprehensive medical screening examinations are required to be 

furnished in an infant’s first year of life, beginning within one month after birth and at the 

second, fourth, sixth, ninth, and twelfth months; two in the second year; one yearly, at ages 2 

through 5 years; and biannually, at ages 6 through 9 years, and annually at ages 10 through 20 

years, with the option of an additional screening examination at ages 7 years and 9 years, if 

medically necessary, as follows: 

a. By one month; and 

b. At 2 months, 4 months, 6 months, 9 months, 12 months, 15 months, and 

18 months; and, 

c. At 2 years, 3 years, 4 years and 5 years; and, 

d. At 6 years, 8 years, 10 years, 11 years, 12 years, 13 years, 14 years, 15 

years, 16 years, 17 years, 18 years, 19 years and 20 years. 

66. In Florida, vision examinations and treatment are required during each EPSDT 

visit.  

67. In Florida, dental examinations, including preventive care, are required once 

every 6 months for children ages 3 and older, and hearing evaluations are required every 12 

months.  

68. By any measure, as the figures cited above in paragraphs 7 and 8 demonstrate, 

Florida has systemically failed to provide this care to Florida’s Medicaid enrolled children, and 

thus has violated the mandates of Title XIX.  Because of these violations, hundreds of thousands 
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eligible Florida children have not been furnished any preventive health care services.  According 

to the State of Florida’s own statistics, in FFY 2004, for example, 554,749 Medicaid enrolled 

Florida children were furnished no preventative health care services at all. 

69. One of the primary reasons for this failure is the inadequate reimbursement rates 

paid by Florida to Medicaid providers. Indeed, a July 2001 United States General Accounting 

Office report entitled Medicaid:  Stronger Efforts Needed to Ensure Children’s Access to Health 

Screening Services found that “Higher Medicaid fees can attract new providers or motivate 

existing providers to see more patients.”  The report also provided that in 1995 after Florida 

increased in reimbursement for an EPSDT screen 116 percent (from $30.00 to $64.82), screening 

rates doubled – from 32 percent to 64 percent.  That was Florida’s last substantial increase in 

provider reimbursement and it occurred 10 years ago, despite substantial increases in provider 

costs during that same period. 

70. In 2004, the Florida State Department of Health conducted a Provider Access 

Survey of its 17 area and regional Children’s Medical Services Offices covering all 67 Florida 

counties.  The Survey inquired about access to pediatric primary specialty care services for 

Children’s Medical Services of Florida (“CMS of Florida”) patients, which include children 

eligible for Medicaid, many of whom have special health care needs.   

71. The survey drew a 100% response rate.  The Department of Health, CMS of 

Florida survey found that during the period January, 2003 through December, 2003: 

• Every CMS of Florida office reported that some CMS of Florida-enrolled 
private primary care practices were closed to new CMS of Florida patients 
during calendar year 2003. 

 
• Low reimbursement rates and lack of capacity were the top two reasons 

cited for the closure of primary care practices to new CMS of Florida 
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patients, followed by the patients’ health conditions being considered too 
complex for primary care practice and administrative burden/paperwork. 

 
• Every CMS of Florida provider recruitment office attempted to recruit 

primary care practitioners to become providers during calendar year 2003.  
Almost three-fourths (72%) of the contacted private primary care 
providers declined to enroll as providers.  Low reimbursement rates and 
lack of capacity were the main reasons cited for declining to participate. 

 
• Consistent with other survey findings, access to primary care physician 

services for CMS patients is most difficult in rural counties. 
 

72. With regard to pediatric specialty care, the Department of Health survey found: 

• The most frequently reported pediatric specialties for which no access was 
reported were: dentistry, dermatology, neurological surgery, orthopedics, 
psychiatry, and urology. 

 
• Among the pediatric specialties for which limited access or access only 

with a medical director’s intervention was reported, dermatology and oral 
surgery were first, neurology was second and dentistry and orthodontics 
were third.  

• When responses for no access or limited access were combined, the 
following pediatric specialties were most often cited: dentistry, 
dermatology, neurological surgery, neurology, orthodontics, orthopedics, 
and urology. 

 
73. During 2003, CMS of Florida staff attempted to recruit pediatric specialists to the 

CMS of Florida network and, similarly to the primary care experience, a large number of those 

approached declined to participate.  Low reimbursement was the number one reason, followed 

by lack of capacity and administrative burden/paperwork. 

74. Thus, according to Florida’s own studies, low reimbursement rates are a principal 

reason for low provider participation rates.   

75. Contrary to their obligation under law, defendants have not and do not “provide”, 

let alone “assure”, that payments for children’s health care and services are either “consistent 
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with . . . quality” or “sufficient to enlist enough providers so that care and services are available 

[to Medicaid-enrolled children] at least to the extent that they are available to children in the 

general population.”  42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30); 45 C.F.R. § 447.204. 

76. Defendants’ payments for children’s health care and services are inconsistent with 

the preventive purposes of Medicaid children’s health care; they are inconsistent also with the 

timely low-cost delivery of preventive care and the avoidance of high cost chronic conditions 

and high cost crisis care, needlessly forcing children into very much higher cost hospital-based 

emergency rooms, into costly and sometimes extended inpatient hospital care, and inflicting 

extended and aggravated conditions upon children which if addressed preventively would have 

been sharply mitigated.   

77. Moreover, the administrative systems which defendants have put in place to 

manage Florida’s Medicaid program frequently and unnecessarily impose barriers to, delay and 

often frustrate completely the provision of medical and dental care to children enrolled in 

Florida’s Medicaid program in a number of different ways.  Highly typical of these barriers, 

delays and frustrations are the practices described below: 

a. Without the consent of or notice to the child or its parents, a child is often 

reassigned by Florida’s Medicaid program from one primary care provider 

to another.  The child and his parent only discover this when the child gets 

sick, needs prompt attention and in making or arriving for an appointment 

with the primary care provider, the provider discovers, upon checking 

Florida’s computer system, that the child has been reassigned to a different 

provider.  This leaves the child and the primary care provider with the 
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following dilemma: if the provider treats the child’s urgent need, the 

provider will receive no reimbursement; if the provider declines to treat 

the child, the family must make arrangements (usually after considerable 

delay) with the newly assigned provider who has never seen the child and 

doesn’t know the history.  This interrupts continuity of care and, thus, 

injures quality of care.  Normally, it is a matter of at least weeks and 

sometimes a couple of months, for the child to be reassigned back to the 

original provider if the child’s parent wishes to do so. 

b. Without knowledge of or notice to the child or its parents, the child’s 

Medicaid eligibility is incorrectly and without justification terminated.  

Again if the child gets sick, and is taken to a provider, the provider risks 

getting no reimbursement for the service and/or can look forward to delays 

and difficulties in getting reimbursed which impose costs greater than the 

fee Medicaid may eventually pay when the error is corrected. 

78. The circumstances described in paragraphs (a) and (b) above occur frequently 

both to children enrolled in the Florida Medipass program and to children enrolled in Medicaid 

HMOs.  The circumstances described in paragraph (a) occur most frequently when the child is 

enrolled in Medipass and is reassigned without notice or knowledge to an HMO whose panel of 

providers does not include the child’s existing primary care provider.  Representatives of 

plaintiff FPS have on numerous occasions brought the aforesaid situations to the attention of 

defendants or their predecessors in office, but to date no changes have been made that have 

effectively prevented the continuation of these problems.  Defendants’ failures to change their 

Case 1:05-cv-23037-AJ   Document 77   Entered on FLSD Docket 06/05/2007   Page 28 of 41



 

 28 

administrative systems to eliminate these problems violates defendants’ duties to plaintiffs under 

42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(A) and § 1396 a(a)(8).  

79. Defendants also fail to adequately monitor managed care organizations that 

provide services to Medicaid patients.  Specifically, under 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(A) and 42 

U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(8), defendants must ensure the provision of care and services with reasonable 

promptness to plaintiff children.  Further, 42 U.S.C. § 1396u-2(a) and § 1396u-2(b)(5) require 

that when a Medicaid managed care organization is employed to provide care and services to 

children enrolled in the Medicaid program, the defendants must ensure that the Medicaid 

managed care organization: 

a. offers an appropriate range of services and access to preventative and 

primary care services for the population to be enrolled in such service 

area, and 

b. maintains a sufficient number, mix and geographic distribution of 

providers of service. 

42 U.S.C. § 1396u-2(b)(5)(A) and (B). 

80. Defendants have failed to fulfill these requirements as many Florida Medicaid 

managed care organizations’ panels of providers are significantly inadequate.  These 

inadequacies result frequently in unreasonably delaying and often in totally frustrating the 

provision of needed care to plaintiff children.  The inadequacy of the panels of Florida Medicaid 

managed care organizations is most pronounced for pediatric medical subspecialists and for 

dentists.  There are, however, a significant number of plaintiff children enrolled in Medicaid 

managed care organizations who encounter unreasonable delays in accessing primary medical 

Case 1:05-cv-23037-AJ   Document 77   Entered on FLSD Docket 06/05/2007   Page 29 of 41



 

 29 

care due to the inadequacy of the primary medical care provider panels of those organizations. 

81. A particularly egregious example of defendants’ failure to adequately monitor the 

HMO’s with which Florida has contracted involves the contract that Florida entered with a 

managed care organization named Atlantic Dental, Inc. (“ADI”) to provide dental care to 

children enrolled in the Medicaid program in Miami-Dade County.  When the contract went into 

effect, July 1, 2004, dental care for Medicaid children in Miami-Dade County was no longer 

available through Medipass, or any managed care organization other than ADI.  This lack of 

alternatives deprived plaintiff class members residing in Dade County of the choice of managed 

care organizations to which they were and are entitled by 42 U.S.C. § 1396u-2(a)(3).  After July 

1, 2004, in addition to the named plaintiffs Khalillah Spell and Eva Carmona, numerous other 

Dade County children enrolled in Medicaid were unable to access treatment for dental problems 

because of the total inadequacy of ADI’s panel of dentists and dental specialists.  Dade County 

Medicaid children also experienced difficulty in promptly receiving dental screenings because of 

ADI’s inadequate panels.  The inadequacy of ADI’s panels was largely a direct result of ADI’s 

setting the rates at which it compensated panel members at levels so low as to provide powerful 

disincentives: (a) for providers to participate at all in ADI panels and (b) for ADI panel members 

to provide treatment and screenings to Medicaid children assigned to their practices.    

82. As detailed above, defendants have systematically failed to meet their obligations 

under federal law, and the plaintiffs have suffered and, in the absence of relief, will continue to 

suffer real cognizable and redressable injuries as a result.   
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 
 

First Cause of Action 
Action to Enforce Children’s Rights to Medical Assistance  

 
83. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 78, as 

though fully set forth herein. 

84. The Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(8) and (a)(l0) as defined by 

1396d(a) and d(r), provide that “medical assistance shall be furnished with reasonable 

promptness to all eligible individuals.” 

85. “Medical Assistance” means regular check-ups at intervals determined by the 

state after consultation with medical and dental organizations involved in children’s healthcare, 

which check-ups must include a comprehensive health and development history (including 

assessments of physical and mental health), a comprehensive unclothed physical examination, 

laboratory tests, including lead blood level assessment, age-appropriate immunizations according 

to the schedule of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, “anticipatory guidance” 

for children and their caretakers as part of the basic child healthcare examination, and vision, 

dental, and hearing examinations.  42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a) and (r). 

86. “Medical Assistance” also means diagnoses, then treatment or other measures to 

correct or ameliorate Plaintiffs’ defects and physical, dental and mental illnesses and conditions, 

whether or not such services are covered under Florida’s Medical Assistance program for adults. 

42 U.S.C. § 1396d(r). 
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87. In violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(8) and (a)(10), as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 

1396d(a) and (r), defendants have refused or failed to provide the required medical assistance 

with reasonable promptness to all eligible individuals. 

88. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C § 1396a(a)(8) and (a)(10), as defined by 42 

U.S.C. § 1396d(a) and (r), has caused and will cause harm to individual Plaintiffs in that they 

have been, or will be, denied the required healthcare services.  The unlawful deprivation of 

medically necessary care results in the needless infliction of pain, the endangerment of young 

lives, the disruption of learning, development and growth and the stunting of children's chances 

to achieve their full potential. 

89. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(8) and (a)(10) has caused and will 

cause harm to organizational Plaintiffs in that they have incurred, or will incur, otherwise 

unnecessary expenditures of organizational resources. 

90. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(8) and (a)(10) has caused and will 

cause harm to the members of the organizational Plaintiffs in that they have incurred, or will 

incur, economic damage. 

91. Defendants' violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(8) and (a)(10) as defined by 42 

U.S.C. § 1396d(a) and 1396d(r), provides a cause of action to Plaintiffs under 42 U.S.C- § 1983, 

inasmuch as Defendants, under color of state law, custom, or usage, have deprived, are 

depriving, and will continue to deprive Plaintiffs of their clearly established rights under 42 

U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(8) and (a)(10), as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a) and (r). 
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92. The harm to Plaintiffs is irreparable and Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at 

law to prevent the continuing wrong and irreparable injury caused by defendants’ acts or 

omissions. 

Second Cause of Action 
Action to Enforce Children’s Rights To Access to  

Healthcare Services Required by Title XIX 
 

93. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 78 as 

though fully set forth herein. 

94. The Social Security Act imposes upon defendants a non-delegable duty to assure 

that payments to medical providers are consistent with quality of care and are sufficient to enlist 

enough providers so that care and services are available under the plan at least to the extent that 

such care and services are available to the general population in the geographic area.  42 U.S.C. 

§ 1396a(a)(30)(A). 

95. Defendants have violated this duty by developing and establishing a Medical 

Assistance Program which does not pay providers high enough reimbursement fees to ensure that 

all eligible Florida children have access to the quality and quantity of care at least to the extent 

that such care and services are available to the general population in the geographic area. 

96. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A) has caused and will cause 

harm to individual Plaintiffs in that they have been, or will be, denied the required healthcare 

services.  The unlawful deprivation of medically necessary care results in the needless infliction 

of pain, the endangerment of young lives, the disruption of learning, development and growth 

and the stunting of children's chances to achieve their full potential.  
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97. Defendants' violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A) has caused and will cause 

harm to organizational Plaintiffs in that they have incurred, or will incur, otherwise unnecessary 

expenditures of organizational resources. 

98. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A) has caused and will cause 

harm to the members of the organizational Plaintiffs in that they have not received, or will not 

receive, payments high enough to be consistent with quality of care. 

99. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A) provides a cause of action 

to Plaintiffs under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, inasmuch as Defendants, under color of state law, custom, 

or usage, have deprived, are depriving, and will continue to deprive Plaintiffs of their clearly 

established rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(30)(A). 

100. The injury to Plaintiffs is irreparable and the Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy 

at law to prevent the continuing wrong and irreparable injury caused by Defendants’ acts or 

omissions. 

Third Cause of Action 
Failure to Ensure HMO Compliance With Federal Requirements 

101. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 78 as 

though fully set forth herein. 

102. The Social Security Act imposes upon defendants a non-delegable duty to assure 

that payments to medical providers are consistent with quality of care and are sufficient to enlist 

enough providers so that care and services are available under the plan at least to the extent that 

such care and services are available to the general population in the geographic area.  42 U.S.C. 

§ 1396a(a)(30)(A). 
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103. Where, as in Florida, the state has contracted with health maintenance 

organizations to provide children’s healthcare services, the Social Security Act has added to the 

state’s obligation in 42 U.S.C. § 1396u-2(b)(5), which requires the state to obtain assurances that 

the HMO offers an appropriate range of services and access to preventive and primary care 

services for the population expected to be enrolled and maintain a sufficient number, mix and 

geographic distribution of providers.  42 U.S.C. § 1396u-2(b)(5). 

104. Defendants have violated this duty by failing to ensure that Florida’s HMO 

contractors offer an appropriate range of services and access to preventive and primary care 

services for the population expected to be enrolled and maintain a sufficient number, mix and 

geographic distribution of providers. 

105. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396u-2(b)(5) has caused and will cause 

harm to individual Plaintiffs in that they have been, or will be, denied the required healthcare 

services.  The unlawful deprivation of medically necessary care results in the needless infliction 

of pain, the endangerment of young lives, the disruption of learning, development and growth 

and the stunting of children's chances to achieve their full potential.  

106. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396u-2(b)(5) has caused and will cause 

harm to organizational Plaintiffs in that they have incurred, or will incur, otherwise unnecessary 

expenditures of organizational resources. 

107. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396u-2(b)(5) provides a cause of action to 

Plaintiffs under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, inasmuch as Defendants, under color of state law, custom, or 

usage, have deprived, are depriving, and will continue to deprive Plaintiffs of their clearly 

established rights as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 1396u-2(b)(5). 
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108. The injury to Plaintiffs is irreparable and the Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy 

at law to prevent the continuing wrong and irreparable injury caused by Defendants’ acts or 

omissions. 

 
Fourth Cause of Action 

Denial of Basic Child Healthcare Outreach and Information 
 

109. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 78, as 

though fully set forth herein. 

110. The Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43), requires defendants to: 

a. Effectively inform Plaintiffs and their adult caretakers of the 

existence of the Medical Assistance children’s healthcare 

program; 

b. Effectively inform Plaintiffs and their adult caretakers about 

the availability of specific child healthcare services under the 

Medical Assistance EPSDT program; 

c. Effectively inform Plaintiffs and their adult caretakers of 

health resources and the benefits of preventive care through 

both oral and written activities that are aggressive and 

effective; 

d. Effectively inform Plaintiffs and their adult caretakers of 

information in clear and non-technical terms, so that they 

know what services are available under the Medical 

Assistance children's healthcare program, where these 
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services are available, and how to obtain them; 

e. Effectively inform Plaintiffs and their adult caretakers of the 

availability of scheduling, assistance to help them obtain 

children's healthcare services; and 

f. Monitor the provision and quality of services and ensure 

appropriate coordination of services received from different 

providers, and agencies, 

111. In violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43), Defendants have refused or failed to 

effectively inform Plaintiffs and their caretakers of the existence of the Medical Assistance 

children’s healthcare program, the availability of specific child healthcare services, and related 

assistance. 

112. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43) has caused and will cause 

harm to individual Plaintiffs in that they have been, or will be, denied information about access 

to children’s healthcare services with resulting harm to their mental and physical health.  The 

unlawful deprivation of medically necessary care results in the needless infliction of pain, the 

endangerment of young lives, the disruption of learning, development and growth and the 

stunting of children’s chances to achieve their full potential. 

113. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43) has caused and will cause 

harm to organizational Plaintiffs in that they have incurred, or will incur, otherwise unnecessary 

expenditures of organizational resources. 

114. Defendants’ violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43) provides a cause of action to 

Plaintiffs under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, inasmuch as Defendants, under color of state law, custom, or 
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usage, have deprived, are depriving, and will continue to deprive, Plaintiffs of their clearly 

established rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(43), as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a) and(r). 

115. The injury to Plaintiffs is irreparable and the Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy 

at law to prevent the continuing wrong and irreparable injury caused by Defendants’ acts or 

omissions. 

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Honorable Court grant the 

following relief: 

a. Determine that this action may be maintained as a class action on behalf of the 

class of children under the age of 21 who now, or in the future will, reside in 

Florida and who are, or will be, eligible under Title XIX of the Social Security 

Act for EPSDT. 

b. Declare defendants to have violated the children’s health care provision of Title 

XIX of the Social Security Act as aforesaid. 

c. Enter an ordered requiring defendants: 

• To promptly furnish to all enrolled and eligible Florida children the 

continuing and complete children’s health care to which they are entitled; 

• To provide payments for care and services to health care providers which 

are sufficient to enlist enough providers so that care and services are 

available to enrolled and eligible children at least to the extent that such 

care and services are available to children in the geographic area; 
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• To assure that health maintenance organizations that participate in 

Florida’s Medical Assistance program have the capacity, and fully and 

effectively use it, to deliver to all enrolled Florida children with them the 

timely, continuing and complete health care to which they are entitled; 

• To aggressively establish and utilize cooperative arrangement with other 

child-intensive agencies, to seek out, to inform and to arrange for the 

timely, complete and continuing children’s health care and services to all 

enrolled and eligible Florida children, as well as to secure enrollment, re-

enrollment, extension, maintenance, presumptive eligibility, and ease of 

reporting to the children, their families and their providers, and to secure 

transportation, scheduling and case management; and  

• To take such actions as are proper and necessary to remedy their 

violations. 

d. Award plaintiffs reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, as authorized pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. § 1988. 

e. Grant such other relief as the Court may judge just and proper. 

Dated: June 5, 2007   Respectfully submitted, 

By:  _/s/ Stuart H. Singer__________________ 
      Stuart H. Singer (Fl. Bar No. 377325) 
      Carl E. Goldfarb (Fl. Bar No. 0125891) 
      Da mien J. Marshall (Fl. Bar. No. 0191302) 
      BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER LLP 
      401 East Los Olas Blvd, Suite 1200 
      Fort Lauderdale, Florida  33301 

Tel. (954) 356-0011 
Fax (954) 356-0022 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Case 1:05-cv-23037-AJ   Document 77   Entered on FLSD Docket 06/05/2007   Page 39 of 41



 

 39 

Of Counsel: 
Thomas K. Gihool 
James Eiseman, Jr. 
PUBLIC INTEREST LAW CENTER  
     OF PHILADELPHIA 
125 South Ninth Street, Suite 700 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19107 
Tel.  (215) 627-7100 
Fax  (215) 627-3183 
 
Louis W. Bullock 
MILLER KEFFER & BULLOCK PC 
222 S. Kenosha Ave. 
Tulsa, Oklahoma 741120 
Tel.  (918) 584-2001 
Fax  (918) 743-6689 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on this 5th day of June, 2007, a copy of the foregoing has been served 

via Notice of Electronic Filing on counsel for Defendants at the following address: 

Chesterfield Smith, Jr. 
Senior Assistant Attorney General 
Chief, State Programs Litigation 
Office of the Attorney General  
850/414-3300 
The Capitol, Suite PL-01 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 
Telephone:  (850) 414-3300 
Facsimile: (850)-488-4872 
 
Stephanie A. Daniel 
Senior Assistant Attorney General 
Office of the Attorney General  
850/414-3300 
The Capitol, Suite PL-01 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 
Telephone:  (850) 414-3300 
Facsimile: (850)-488-4872 
 
 
 
 

        
      _ /s/ Carl E. Goldfarb_________ 

       Carl E. Goldfarb  
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